RECEIVED

May 22 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-10-00955
Appellate Case No. 2026-000077

Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island Condominium Property Owners Association, Inc.
and Elizabeth A. Bushey, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Appellants,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Where Plaintiffs¹ obtained a judgment against TCR² for more than \$1,000,000; where TCR appealed and, to stay execution of the judgment pending the appeal (i.e., in exchange for the benefit of preventing Plaintiffs from executing on the judgment pending the appeal), posted a \$1,000,000 surety bond to “guarantee the payment of the judgment pending the appeal;”³ and where the appeal concluded with finality with Plaintiffs remaining entitled to a judgment against TCR for more than \$1,000,000, which remains unsatisfied, did the trial court err in denying Plaintiffs’ motion for the full \$1,000,000 amount of TCR’s appeal bond to be immediately and unconditionally disbursed to Plaintiffs in partial satisfaction of the judgment?⁴**
- A. Did the trial court err by relating Plaintiffs’ right to the bond proceeds to any question of insurance coverage for the judgment against TCR?**
- B. Did the trial court err by considering the equities? And even assuming, *arguendo*, it was proper for the trial court to consider the equities, did it err by not finding that they favor Plaintiffs?**
- C. Did the trial court err by relying on facts not in evidence about Plaintiffs’ settlement agreements with certain of TCR’s insurers?**
- II. Assuming, *arguendo*, the Court is not inclined to agree with Plaintiffs with respect to Issue/Argument I, should the Court confirm that the operation of the 120-day disbursement trigger in the trial court’s August 28, 2025, order itself unconditionally entitles Plaintiffs to be paid the full amount of TCR’s appeal bond in partial satisfaction of the judgment?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This construction defect lawsuit was filed against TCR, as well as other parties irrelevant to this appeal, in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on February 13, 2015.

¹ “Plaintiffs” refers to Plaintiffs/Appellants, Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island Condominium Property Owners Association, Inc. and Elizabeth A. Bushey, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated.

² “TCR” refers to Defendant/Respondent, Tri-County Roofing, Inc.

³ S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130(A)(1).

⁴ This issue, and the corresponding argument below, is advanced subject to and without waiving Plaintiffs’ position that, as explained in footnote 19, *infra*, the operation of the 120-day disbursement trigger in the trial court’s August 28, 2025, order itself unconditionally entitles Plaintiffs to be paid the full amount of TCR’s appeal bond in partial satisfaction of the judgment.

(Summons & Compl.)⁵ It came on for a jury trial in May of 2019, the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy presiding, and Plaintiffs obtained a verdict against TCR in the amount of \$7,000,000, including \$500,000 in punitive damages. (Verdict Form.) Post-trial proceedings resulted in TCR being allowed a setoff in the amount of \$1,670,000, and in accordance with the trial court’s order filed July 23, 2019, judgment was entered in favor of Plaintiffs against TCR in the amount of \$5,330,000,⁶ whereupon, on October 14, 2019, TCR appealed,⁷ contending it was entitled to a greater setoff than the trial court allowed.

By motion filed October 21, 2019,⁸ TCR sought and, by order filed January 28, 2020,⁹ was granted a stay of execution pending its appeal on the condition that it post an appeal bond in the amount of \$1,000,000, pursuant to § 18-9-130, and on February 4, 2020, TCR posted a \$1,000,000 appeal bond executed by surety U.S. Specialty Insurance Company (“USSIC”). (Original Appeal Bond.) Years later, on February 7, 2025, while TCR’s appeal was still pending, and pursuant to a consent order filed January 2, 2025,¹⁰ this bond was replaced by a substitute bond,¹¹ but insofar as the security provided to Plaintiffs is concerned—and, indeed, as expressly required by the aforementioned consent order allowing it¹²—the material terms of the

⁵ The operative complaint is Plaintiffs’ second amended complaint, filed November 2, 2017. (2d Am. Compl.)

⁶ (Order filed 7/23/19.)

⁷ TCR’s notice of appeal (TCR’s NOA & POS, dated 10/14/19) timely followed the trial court’s September 25, 2019, order denying TCR’s motion for reconsideration of its July 23, 2019, order. (Order filed 9/25/19.)

⁸ (TCR’s Mot. to Stay Execution of J. and/or to Set an Appellate Bond, filed 10/21/19.)

⁹ (Order filed 1/28/20.)

¹⁰ (Order filed 1/2/25.)

¹¹ (Substitute Appeal Bond.)

¹² (Order filed 1/2/25 p. 5.)

substitute bond are identical to those of the original. (*Compare Substitute Appeal Bond with Original Appeal Bond.*)¹³

All told, the appeal resulted in TCR being allowed an additional setoff of \$1,500,000, i.e., a setoff of \$1,500,000 more than the \$1,670,000 the trial court had already allowed. First, by opinion filed June 28, 2023,¹⁴ this Court held that TCR was entitled to set off an additional \$500,000. Then, by opinion filed April 30, 2025,¹⁵ our Supreme Court affirmed the additional \$500,000 setoff, found TCR entitled to set off another \$1,000,000 beyond that, and remanded the case to the trial court for calculation of the judgment to be entered against TCR in light of its holding.

The remittitur was issued on June 5, 2025,¹⁶ and that same day, Plaintiffs filed a motion asking the trial court, specifically, Judge McCoy, to enter judgment in accordance with the Supreme Court's opinion and, as TCR's appeal was concluded and the judgment to be entered against it remained unsatisfied and would certainly exceed the \$1,000,000 amount of TCR's appeal bond, to order the bond proceeds to be immediately disbursed to Plaintiffs in partial satisfaction of the judgment. (Pls.' Mot. for Entry of J. and Disbursement of Bond, filed 6/5/25; *see also* 7/30/25 Email from Pls. (via Weiland) to J. McCoy with Pls.' Proposed Order & Exs. A

¹³ The difference between the substitute bond and the original bond merely reflects that, during the pendency of the appeal, Plaintiffs were able to reach settlements with two of TCR's three insurers, Builders Mutual Insurance Company ("BMIC") and Scottsdale Insurance ("Scottsdale"), but not with Certain Underwriters of Lloyd's, London ("Lloyd's"). (Order filed 1/2/25.) Unlike the original bond, which states that all three of TCR's insurers have agreed with USSIC to guarantee the bond amount (Original Appeal Bond p. 2), the substitute bond only states that Lloyd's has agreed with USSIC to guarantee the bond amount. (Substitute Appeal Bond p. 3.)

¹⁴ *Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island Condominium Property Owners Assoc., Inc. v. Island Pointe, LLC*, 440 S.C. 190, 890 S.E.2d 603 (Ct. App. 2023).

¹⁵ *Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island Condominium Property Owners Assoc., Inc. v. Island Pointe, LLC*, ___ S.C. ___, 915 S.E.2d 501 (2025).

¹⁶ (Remittitur, dated 6/5/25.)

and B thereto; Pls.’ Proposed Order & Exs. A and B thereto; 8/18/25 Email from Pls. (via Weiland) to J. McCoy Objecting to TCR’s Proposed Order and Submitting Pls.’ Modified Proposed Order; Pls.’ Modified Proposed Order.)

While it did not oppose Plaintiffs’ calculation of the judgment amount or the entry of judgment against it for the same, TCR opposed Plaintiffs’ request for disbursement of the bond proceeds, arguing that the pendency of a declaratory judgment action regarding coverage for the judgment under TCR’s insurance policies with Lloyd’s (the “coverage action”) prevented the bond funds from being disbursed and cross-moving for a stay pending the outcome of the coverage action. (TCR’s Response in Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. for Entry of J. and Cross-Mot. to Stay, filed 7/28/25; TCR’s Mot. to Stay, filed 7/29/25; *see also* 7/30/25 Email from TRC (via Stegmaier) to J. McCoy with Copies of TCR’s Response in Opp’n and Cross-Mot. & Separate Mot. to Stay; TCR’s Reply in Opp’n to Pls.’ Proposed Order, filed 7/31/25; 8/15/25 Email from TCR (via Stegmaier) with TCR’s Proposed Order; TCR’s Proposed Order.)

Following a hearing on July 31, 2025,¹⁷ by order filed August 28, 2025, the trial court directed entry of judgment in favor of Plaintiffs against TCR in the amount of \$3,486,317.70, which amount is inclusive of \$1,906,317.70 in post-judgment interest accrued between July 23, 2019, and July 31, 2025. (Order filed 8/28/25.)¹⁸ The trial court did not, however, order immediate disbursement of the appeal bond proceeds to Plaintiffs in partial satisfaction of the judgment but rather ordered Lloyd’s to deposit the \$1,000,000 bond amount with the clerk of court, released/cancelled the bond and discharged USSIC from its obligations thereunder, and

¹⁷ (Tr. of 7/31/25 Hr’g.)

¹⁸ Again, TCR does not dispute the amount of the judgment or Plaintiffs’ entitlement to its entry. (TCR’s Response in Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. for Entry of J. and Cross-Mot. to Stay, filed 7/28/25 p. 2; 7/30/25 Email from TRC (via Stegmaier) to J. McCoy with Copies of TCR’s Response in Opp’n and Cross-Mot. & Separate Mot. to Stay; TCR’s Reply in Opp’n to Pls.’ Proposed Order, filed 7/31/25 p. 1; TCR’s Proposed Order pp. 3, 5.)

directed the clerk to hold the deposited funds until the earlier of (a) final resolution of the coverage action or (b) 120 days from the date of the order, i.e., 120 days from August 28, 2025.

(Order filed 8/28/25 pp. 5–6.)¹⁹

¹⁹ Specifically, regarding the retention and disbursement of the funds deposited with the clerk, the trial court’s August 28, 2025, order reads as follows:

4. Retention and Disbursement

The funds shall remain in the registry [of the court] until the earlier of:

- a. Final resolution (including appeals) of [the coverage action]; or
- b. 120 Days from the Issuance of this Order.

If Plaintiffs prevail in the coverage action, the funds and accrued interest [while on deposit with the clerk] shall be disbursed to them in accordance with that judgment. If coverage is denied in whole or in part, the funds (or applicable portion) shall be returned to the insurers.

If the coverage case is not reached within 120 days of this Order, TCR shall dis[b]urse funds.

(Order filed 8/28/25 p. 6.) The trial court’s decision to provide for the alternative of the 120-day disbursement trigger marks a notable departure from the relief that TCR sought. As reflected in the proposed order TCR submitted to the trial court, TCR wanted the clerk to hold the deposited funds pending (a) final resolution of the coverage action or (b) further order of the trial court. (TCR’s Proposed Order p. 6.) While the trial court largely adopted TCR’s proposed order, it opted against TCR’s proposed further-order-of-the-court provision in favor of the 120-day disbursement trigger and language expressly providing that, “[i]f the coverage case is not reached within 120 days of this Order, TCR shall dis[b]urse funds.” (Order filed 8/28/25 p. 6.) And subsequently, while otherwise denying Plaintiffs’ motion to reconsider, the trial court clarified that this language regarding the funds being disbursed if the coverage action was not reached within 120 days was intended to refer to “the Clerk of Court,” not “TCR.” (Order filed 12/11/25.) Accordingly, given that it has now been far more than 120 days since August 28, 2025, the operation of the 120-day disbursement trigger should itself unconditionally entitle Plaintiffs to the full amount of the bond funds (whether they are paid to Plaintiffs in the form of \$1,000,000 from USSIC or the clerk of court’s disbursement of the \$1,000,000 (plus interest) that Lloyd’s deposited pursuant to the trial court’s August 28, 2025, order). But, out of an abundance of caution, to the extent that there remains any question about whether Plaintiffs are

Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, Plaintiffs moved the trial court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its August 28, 2025, order (“Plaintiffs’ motion to reconsider”). (Pls.’ Mot. to Reconsider.) By order filed December 11, 2025, the trial court denied Plaintiffs’ motion to reconsider except “as to clarify that the Clerk of Court, and not TCR, may direct disbursement of funds (if/when necessary).” (Order filed 12/11/25.)²⁰

By notice served and filed January 8, 2026, this appeal timely follows. (Pls.’ NOA & POS.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal involves questions of law with respect to the interpretation of a statute (§ 18-9-130),²¹ circuit court orders (the trial court’s orders setting, and allowing substitution of, TCR’s appeal bond, and, insofar as Plaintiffs’ position regarding the effect of 120-day disbursement trigger is concerned, the trial court’s orders of August 28 and December 11, 2025),²² and clear and unambiguous contracts (TCR’s original and substituted appeal bonds),²³ which are subject to

unconditionally entitled to these funds (without regard to any question of insurance coverage for Plaintiffs’ judgment against TCR), and in light of the then-anticipated and now-filed TCR appeal (*see* Appellate Case No. 2026-000531), Plaintiffs are proceeding with this appeal to make sure their rights to the full protection and proceeds of TCR’s appeal bond are vindicated.

²⁰ As quoted above, the trial court’s order of August 28, 2025, states, “If the coverage case is not reached within 120 days of this Order, *TCR* shall dis[b]urse funds. (Order filed 8/28/25 p. 6 (emphasis added).) Among other things, Plaintiffs’ motion to reconsider asked the trial court to clarify that the *clerk of court*, not *TCR*, was to disburse the \$1,000,000 on deposit, plus all accrued interest, once the 120-day period expired. (Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider p. 7.)

²¹ *Univ. of S. California v. Moran*, 365 S.C. 270, 274, 617 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 2005) (“An issue regarding statutory interpretation is a question of law.”).

²² *Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 407 S.C. 128, 134, 754 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2014) (“[T]he interpretation of a judgment is a question of law for the court.”)

²³ *See Moore Elec. Supply, Inc. v. Ward*, 316 S.C. 367, 369, 450 S.E.2d 96, 97 (Ct. App. 1994) (“A bond is nothing more than an agreement or contract under seal to pay money or to do some thing”); 5 C.S.J. *Appeal and Error* § 1202 (“On an appeal bond, the surety’s undertaking is a contract that the surety will, failing a reversal, pay the judgment rendered against the appellant.”) (footnote omitted); *Lee v. Univ. of S.C.*, 407 S.C. 512, 517, 757 S.E.2d

de novo review²⁴ and may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court. *Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772 (2010) (“An appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.”).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in denying Plaintiffs’ motion for the full \$1,000,000 amount of TCR’s appeal bond to be immediately and unconditionally disbursed to Plaintiffs in partial satisfaction of the judgment.

A. The trial court erred by relating Plaintiffs’ right to the bond proceeds to any question of insurance coverage for the judgment against TCR.

The fundamental problem here is any conflation of the question of whether Plaintiffs are entitled to the proceeds of TCR’s appeal bond with the question of whether, and to what extent, there is insurance coverage for Plaintiffs’ judgment against TCR.

“A ‘supersedeas bond’ is a judicial bond designed to supersede the enforcement of the trial court’s judgment; it is a contract in which the surety obligates itself to pay a final judgment rendered against the principal.” 5 C.J.S. § 1202. “*The bond provides security* in the event the judgment whose effectiveness is set aside during an appeal is later affirmed.” *Id.* (emphasis added). “In essence, *an appeal bond provides assurances* that any remaining judgment, left standing following an appeal, *will be satisfied.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

As is clear from the language of the statute under which the bond was required, the purpose of the bond is to “*guarantee* the payment of the judgment pending the appeal” (up to the amount of the bond). § 18-9-130(A)(1) (emphasis added); (*see also* Consent Order Regarding Supersedeas/Appellate Bond p. 4 (recognizing that the purpose of the bond required under § 18-

394, 397 (2014) (“[T]he construction of a clear and unambiguous contract is a matter of law for the court . . .”).

²⁴ *Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Plan. Comm’n*, 426 S.C. 97, 102, 825 S.E.2d 721, 724 (Ct. App. 2019) (“As to questions of law, this court’s standard of review is de novo.”).

9-130(A)(1) is to “provide adequate security ‘to guarantee the payment of the judgment pending the appeal’”).) Here, there is no question that Plaintiffs are entitled to judgment against TCR in an amount that exceeds \$1,000,000. Indeed, without objection from TCR, the trial court correctly directed entry of judgment in favor of Plaintiffs against TCR in the amount of \$3,486,317.70 (inclusive of post-judgment interest) as of July 31, 2025, with additional post-judgment interest to accrue thereafter. (Order filed 8/28/25 p. 5.)

The subject bond is the substitute Supersedeas Bond/Appellate Bond, posted February 7, 2025, which was posted pursuant to the Consent Order Regarding Supersedeas/Appellate Bond, filed January 2, 2025. This bond was posted by TCR and USSIC, as surety. The reason the substitute bond was posted was to make Lloyd’s the sole guarantor of the bond—to guarantee Lloyd’s would repay USSIC for USSIC’s payment to Plaintiffs under the bond—following Plaintiffs’ settlement with TCR’s other insurers, BMIC and Scottsdale. Thus, Lloyd’s, with knowledge that Plaintiffs had settled with TCR’s other insurers, consented to becoming the sole guarantor of a substitute bond, which, other than identifying Lloyd’s as its sole guarantor, was required to be “in a form identical to the existing bond”²⁵ posted in February of 2020, i.e., the original bond posted *before* Plaintiffs’ settlement with TCR’s other insurers.

Neither the bond nor the consent order under which Lloyd’s agreed to be its sole guarantor says anything about the outcome of the pending coverage action having any bearing on the bond. Rather, in terms identical to the original bond, which, again, was posted before any settlement between Plaintiffs and TCR’s other insurers, the \$1,000,000 obligation under the substitute bond is triggered simply by the appeal being concluded with a judgment in Plaintiffs’ favor and “[TCR] and/or its insurer” not satisfying such judgment. (Substitute Appeal Bond p.

²⁵ (Consent Order Regarding Supersedeas/Appellate Bond filed January 2, 2025, p. 5.)

3.) The appeal has now long been concluded with finality and the case remitted to the trial court, and neither TCR nor Lloyd's has satisfied Plaintiffs' judgment against TCR. Under the express terms of the bond, there is simply no other condition precedent to Plaintiffs' recovery under the bond.

The circuit court states that its ruling “[s]ecures [the bond] funds for Plaintiffs if they prevail” (Order filed 8/28/2005 p. 5.) But insofar as Plaintiffs' entitlement to the bond proceeds is concerned, Plaintiffs have already prevailed. Indeed, “[i]n South Carolina, a judgment against a principal is binding and conclusive on a surety.” *Int'l Fid. Ins. Co. v. China Const. Am. (SC) Inc.*, 375 S.C. 175, 179, 650 S.E.2d 677, 679 (Ct. App. 2007). It is not necessary to know whether, and to what extent, Lloyd's is obligated to provide insurance coverage for the judgment against TCR to know that the bond surety—which, again, is not Lloyd's but rather USSIC—is liable under the bond. All that needs to be known is already known: There is a judgment against TCR and neither TCR nor Lloyd's has or will now pay it. The time that the bond “bought” TCR was the time that it took for the appeal to run its course, nothing more. Now that the appeal is over, Plaintiffs are entitled to the benefit of the bond immediately and unconditionally. Tying Plaintiffs' ability to recover under the bond to the outcome of the coverage action renders illusory the protection that was supposed to be “guaranteed” by the bond. The stay that TCR was granted pending the appeal was granted in exchange for the certainty of recovery that the bond granted Plaintiffs in the event that judgment against TCR remained intact at the conclusion of the appeal. To deny Plaintiffs this certainty is to deny them the very essence of what the bond was supposed to provide them.

And to be clear, the unconditional payment of the bond proceeds to Plaintiffs in advance of the outcome of the insurance coverage action poses no threat of double recovery. The amount

paid to Plaintiffs as bond proceeds is simply deducted from the amount that TCR owes on the judgment. In no event will Plaintiffs receive more than the full amount of their judgment (plus interest) against TCR.

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