RECEIVED

Aug 21 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000077
Case No. 2015-CP-10-00955

Palmetto Pointe at Peas Island Condominium Property Owners Association, Inc.
and Elizabeth A. Bushey, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly
situated,..... Appellants,

vs.

Island Pointe, LLC; Complete Building Corporation; Tri-County Roofing, Inc.;
Creekside, Inc; American Residential Services, LLC d/b/a ARS/Rescue Rooter
Charleston; Anderson Windows, Inc; Atlantic Building Construction Services,

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

The trial court held that while the purpose of supersedeas bonds are to ensure funds are available to satisfy the judgment when due and would ordinarily be subject to disbursement upon remittitur of the case by the appellate court and entry of judgment by the trial court, the present case presented a different situation and a stay of disbursement was necessary to "safeguard[] the insurer's due process rights and avoid[] the potential for disbursements that may not be recoverable." (Id., p. 4.) Specifically, the trial court determined that:

[T]he equitable and prudent course is to preserve the bond proceeds within the custody of the trial court until the coverage dispute is finally adjudicated, thereby ensuring that the funds remain available for satisfaction of the judgment should Plaintiffs prevail, while safeguarding the insurer's due process rights and

avoiding the potential for disbursements that may not be recoverable.

(Id.) The trial court ordered that Lloyd’s deposit \$1,000,000.00 into the registry of the Court, that the supersedeas bond be cancelled/released, and directed the Clerk to discharge the surety and close the bond on the Court’s records. (See id. p. 5.)

The trial court also ordered that the funds be retained pending the final resolution of the companion coverage action, and that “[i]f Plaintiffs prevail in the coverage action, the funds and accrued interest shall be disbursed to them in accordance with that judgment. If coverage is denied in whole or in part, the funds (or applicable portion) shall be returned to the insurers.” (Id. p. 6.)

The trial court also set an outside deadline of 120 days from the issuance of the order and directed that the funds be disbursed at the earlier of the resolution of the coverage action or the 120 day deadline.² (See id.)

² The trial of the companion coverage action, expected to occur in November 2025, was delayed and the matter was referred to the Master in Equity. On December 30, 2025, the trial court entered a Form 4 Order, directing the Clerk to disburse the funds. (See 12/30/2025 Order.) Respondent immediately filed a Motion to Reconsider requesting the funds not be disbursed until the companion coverage action was resolved. (See 12/30/2025 Mot. for Recons.) After a hearing and supplemental submission by Appellants, the trial court denied Respondent’s Motion. (See 2/3/2026 Order.) Respondent then appealed the trial court’s Order, which is currently pending with this Court under appellate case number 2026-000531.

On September 8, 2025, Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider the August 28, 2025 Order, arguing that Appellants' right to receive the bond proceeds is unrelated to any question of insurance coverage; the trial court improperly considered the equities; and the trial court erroneously relied on facts not in evidence. (See 9/8/2025 Mot. for Recons., pp. 1-6.) Appellants also sought clarification on whether the funds should be disbursed no less than 120 days from the date of the Subject Order and further sought a ruling on each and every issue raised by Appellants. (See id. pp. 7-8.) Respondent opposed the Motion and, by Form 4 Order dated December 11, 2025, the trial court denied Appellants' Motion in part and granted in part to correct a clerical error. (See 9/26/2025 Resp. in Opp'n.; 12/11/2025 Order.)

On January 8, 2026, Appellants initiated this appeal by filing a Notice of Appeal relating to the August 28, 2025 and December 11, 2025 Orders. (See 1/8/2026 Notice of Appeal.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal involves multiple questions of law relating to post-trial orders, statutory interpretation, and contractual provisions and, is subject to *de novo* review. See Doe v. Bishop of Charleston, 407 S.C. 128, 134, 754 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2014) (“the interpretation of a judgment is a question of law for the court.”) (citing 46 Am. Jur. 2d Judgments § 73); Univ. of S. California v. Moran, 365 S.C. 270, 274, 617 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 2005) (“An issue regarding statutory interpretation is a question of law.”); Lee v. Univ. of S.C., 407 S.C. 512, 517, 757 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2014) (“the construction of a clear and unambiguous contract is a matter of law for the court”) (citing Watts v. Monarch Builders, Inc., 272 S.C. 517, 520, 252 S.E.2d 889, 891 (1979)); Callawassie Island Mbrs. Club, Inc. v. Dennis, 425 S.C. 193, 198, 821 S.E.2d 667, 669 (2018) (“the ambiguity of contracts . . . are questions of law”).

“Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*” “with no particular deference to the trial court.” Doe, 407 S.C. at 134, 754 S.E.2d at 498 (citing Town of Summerville v. City of North Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008); Campbell v. Campbell (In re Campbell), 379 S.C. 593, 599, 666 S.E.2d 908, 911 (2008) (citing Dreher v. Dreher, 370 S.C. 75, 79, 634 S.E.2d 646, 648 (2006)).

LAW/ANALYSIS

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR THE IMMEDIATE AND UNCONDITIONAL DISBURSEMENT OF THE \$1,000,000 APPEAL BOND.

The crux of this appeal is Appellants' argument that upon remittitur the trial court was required to order the immediate payment of the appellate bond and lacked any ability to order otherwise or even consider the matter any further. Essentially, Appellants seek to divest the trial court of any discretion in directing the payment of a supersedeas bond and require our trial courts to blindly accept a potential payee's demand to be paid. Appellants' position lacks merit entirely. As further explained herein, no authority requires immediate payment and the trial court properly considered a wider range of factors in reaching its conclusion that a stay of disbursement was necessary.

A. The Trial Court Properly Considered an Active Controversy Relating to Insurance Coverage when Determining Plaintiffs' Right to Appellate Bond Proceeds.

To obtain the relief they desire, Appellants aver that the controlling authorities require immediate payment of the bond and argue that the trial court was forbidden from considering anything outside of the narrow scope they advance. Specifically, Appellants cite to South Carolina Code § 18-9-130 and the language of the bond itself in support of their position.

When interpreting the directives of a statute, trial courts “must follow the plain and unambiguous language in a statute and have ‘no right to impose another meaning.’” Grier v. AMISUB of S.C., Inc., 397 S.C. 532, 535-36, 725 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2012) (quoting Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000)). “Words in the statute should be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resulting to forced or subtle construction.” Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. DMV, 380 S.C. 600, 608, 670 S.E.2d 674, 678 (Ct. App. 2008) (internal citations omitted).

The statute cited by Appellants, § 18-9-130, governs the setting of an appellate bond, including limits on the bond amount required for staying the execution of a money judgment, conditions for enforcing the sale of a defendant's property after an appeal, and automatically staying the execution of a judgment during the appeal process, but does not set any requirements or provide any guidance on the timeframe by which disbursement must be made. In fact, it does not contain any reference to disbursement. Consequently, this statute does not require a trial court to order the immediate payment of a supersedeas bond.

Similarly, the language of the bond itself does not require immediate payment. “Like other written contracts, a bond is to be construed according to

the fair import of its language.” Socar, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 288 S.C. 287, 289, 341 S.E.2d 822, 823 (Ct. App. 1986) (citing 11 C.J.S. Bonds § 38 at 417 (1938)). “If the language used by a bond is plain and unambiguous, the bond should be interpreted as any other contract so as to arrive at the intention of the parties.” Id. at 289-90 (citing 12 Am. Jur. (2d) Bonds § 25 at 493 (1964)).

The operative language of the bond is as follows:

if Tri-County and/or its insurers shall satisfy in full such . . . modification of the judgment and such costs, attorney’s fees, interest and damages as . . . the South Carolina Supreme Court may adjudge or award, . . . then the obligation shall be void, otherwise to remain in full force and virtue. In no event shall the aggregate under this bond exceed One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00).

(2/7/2025 Supersedeas/Appellate Bond.) While the bond states that it pays out only if Respondent or its insurers fail to satisfy the judgment, it does not clearly dictate that payment be made if the judgment is not immediately satisfied. As a result, Appellants’ contention that the bond itself requires immediate payment regardless of the ongoing controversy over Lloyd’s coverage obligations lacks merit.

Admittedly, the bond is silent on the timeframe by which Respondent or its insurers must satisfy the judgment before the bond is triggered. To the extent

the bond language is capable of more than one meaning or its meaning is unclear and is therefore ambiguous, the court must seek to determine the parties' intent by “striv[ing] to discover the situation of the parties, along with their purposes at the time the contract was entered.” Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 94, 594 S.E.2d 485, 493 (Ct. App. 2004) (internal citations omitted).

The trial court properly considered the situation as a whole when determining that a stay of payment on the bond was necessary to allow the determination of whether Lloyd's is obligated to satisfy any portion of the judgment. Indeed, it is inconceivable that Lloyd's would intend to pay a judgment in the absence of coverage. Under the applicable law, the trial court did not commit any error in making this determination. To find otherwise would put insurers and other parties in an untenable situation and risk the insurers' rights to challenge coverage.

Accordingly, this Court must affirm the portion of the trial court's August 28, 2025 Order staying disbursement until the coverage action is resolved and affirm the trial court's denial of Appellants' Rule 59(e) Motion for Reconsideration.

B. Appellants Failed to Properly Preserve Their Arguments Relating to the Trial Court's Alleged Consideration of Equitable Principles and Evidence that was Not Contained in the Record.

In their Brief, Appellants argue that the trial court erred in considering equitable principles and by considering evidence they contend was not in the record. However, Appellants failed to timely object when those points were made in the proposed order submitted by Respondent. (See Def.'s Proposed Order.) The first objection made by Appellants was in their Motion to Alter, Amend, and/or Reconsider the trial court's August 28, 2025 Order. (See 9/8/2025 Mot. for Recons.)

"It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). A contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue for appellate review. See South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Lisa C., 380 S.C. 406, 414-15, 669 S.E.2d 647, 652 (Ct. App. 2008). A party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not. See Dixon v. Dixon, 362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E.2d 849, 854 (2005).

Accordingly, Appellants failed to preserve any argument they may have had regarding the trial court's consideration of equitable principles or evidence they contend was not in the record, and this Court may dispense with further consideration of those issues.

C. To the Extent the Trial Court made Equitable Considerations in Determining that a Stay of Disbursement was Necessary, it was Not Erroneous.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Appellants did not fail to preserve their argument relating to the trial court's purported consideration of equitable principles, their argument fails nevertheless. Appellants assume that the trial court, by stating that "the equitable and prudent course is to preserve the bond proceeds within the custody of the Court until the coverage dispute is finally adjudicated", made equitable considerations in reaching its decision. (See 8/28/2025 Order.) However, the mere use of the word "equitable" does not establish that the trial court fashioned an equitable remedy. See Key Corp. Capital, Inc. v. Cty. of Beaufort, 373 S.C. 55, 62, 644 S.E.2d 675, 678 (2007) ("While the Court of Appeals did note that the County's errors and omissions created the 'inequitable situation' present in the case, this does not establish that the Court of Appeals fashioned an equitable remedy in favor of the appellant.") (citing H&K Specialists v. Brannen, 340 S.C. 585, 589, 532 S.E.2d

617, 620 (Ct. App. 2000)). Moreover, even when further assuming, *arguendo*, that the trial court was in fact swayed by equitable considerations, Respondent contends that it was proper for the trial court to do so.

The well-known equitable maxim that “equity follows the law” serves to prevent courts from performing legislative functions. See Smith v. Barr, 375 S.C. 157, 164, 650 S.E.2d 486, 490 (Ct. App. 2007); Henderson v. Evans, 268 S.C. 127, 130, 232 S.E.2d 331, 333 (1977). To that end, “the court's equitable powers must yield in the face of an unambiguously worded statute.” Santee Cooper Resort, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 298 S.C. 179, 185, 379 S.E.2d 119, 123 (1989); see also Key Corp. Capital, Inc., 373 S.C. at 61, 644 S.E.2d at 678. “The function of equity is to supplement the law, not to displace it.” Spoone v. Newsome Chevrolet Buick, 306 S.C. 438, 440, 412 S.E.2d 434, 435 (Ct. App. 1991) (citing Town of Zebulon v. Dawson, 216 N.C. 520, 5 S.E.2d 535 (1939)). Accordingly, “equity follows the law” is relevant when equity is invoked to override a clear statutory mandate. Indeed, in cases where it is held that equity does not provide relief, it is in the face of a clear statutory mandate. See, e.g., Smith, 375 S.C. at 164, 650 S.E.2d at 490 (“the Tax Office failed to properly post the required statutory notice on the Property. As a result, the law

mandates that we set aside the tax sale. Consequently, equity does not provide Dr. Barr relief because equity follows the law.”).

Here, there is no unambiguously worded statute that directed disbursement in the way Appellants wish. As Respondent has already pointed out, § 18-9-130 does not contain any directive on how funds are to be disbursed or even mention disbursement. Consequently, to the extent the trial court made any equitable considerations, doing so was as a supplement to the law and, because no unambiguously worded statute was displaced, such considerations would have been entirely proper.

Accordingly, this Court must affirm the portion of the trial court’s August 28, 2025 Order staying disbursement until the coverage action is resolved and affirm the trial court’s denial of Appellants’ Rule 59(e) Motion for Reconsideration.

D. The Trial Court Did Not Err by Relying on Facts Not in Evidence.

Assuming it was properly preserved, Appellants’ argument that the trial court improperly considered facts not in evidence, specifically, settlements with other insurers and a release of Respondent, lacks merit.

Appellants contend that “[t]he settlement agreements between Plaintiffs and TCR’s other insurers are not of record, and TCR’s counsel’s argument about what he suspects the terms of the settlement agreements to be is not evidence.” (Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 11.) However, while the full text of any settlement agreement between Appellants and Respondent’s other insurers was not before the trial court, the operative portions of those agreements, as was pertinent to the issues before the trial court, was properly before the court by Appellants’ consent.

In response to BMIC and Scottsdale’s Motion to Revoke the initial supersedeas bond, Appellants and Respondent agreed to a Consent Order wherein the settlements with BMIC and Scottsdale were acknowledged, along with the fact that BMIC and Scottsdale should not continue to serve as guarantors of the bond “because [they] are no longer potential indemnitors with regard to the May 16, 2019 judgment, if Tri-County’s appeal is unsuccessful.” (1/2/2025 Consent Order, p. 4.) Accordingly, Appellants’ contention that this evidence was not properly before the court lacks merit entirely.

Turning to Appellants’ argument that there was no evidence supporting a finding that Appellants released Respondent, even if the issue was properly preserved, it was at most harmless error. As previously explained, because the

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